SOUNDRESOURCE ACCESS AND EQUITY IN HUMBOLDT COUNTY (HOW SOCIAL MYTH BECOMES SOCIAL FACT)

By

Colton J Hubbard

A Thesis Presented to

The Faculty of California State Polytechnic University, Humboldt

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Arts in Sociology

Committee Membership

Dr. Michihiro Clark Sugata, Committee Chair

Dr. James Ordner, Committee Member

Dr. Jennifer Eichstedt, Program Graduate Coordinator

May 2022

ABSTRACT

RESOURCE ACCESS AND EQUITY IN HUMBOLDT COUNTY (HOW SOCIAL MYTH BECOMES SOCIAL FACT)

Colton J Hubbard

Rural areas of Northern California have gone without health and social services for decades. The shortcomings of local services have given rise to the idea that there are no services in these rural and isolated communities. Conditions and beliefs have brought up two important questions. The first question is how can access and knowledge of available services be improved in rural areas? The second question is, through what mechanisms do communities develop their facts?

To address the previous questions, I worked with the primary health and social service provider in Humboldt County, CA. We developed a database of local services that anyone from computers and smart devices could access.

While creating the database, we discovered that while there are services in this area, there exists a gap in organizational awareness. The majority of community-based organizations do not communicate with one another, and similarly, the residents of rural communities go unaware of available services.

Issues of awareness lead me to study social learning utilizing several fundamental concepts; anthology, semantic memory, willful ignorance, akrasia Phenomenology, Myth, Pragmatism, and Semiotics.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTii
LIST OF APPENDICESv
INTRODUCTION
REVIEW OF LITERATURE 4
Guiding Research Questions4
How Does Social Myth Become Social Fact?4
What are the Social Consequences of a Myth Becoming Fact?7
Is it a Myth Turned Social Fact When People Say There are no Service in Humboldt County?9
Are There Services in Humboldt?
How can Access and Knowledge of Services be Improved?10
What can Access Look Like Going Forward?11
Specific Terminology
Agnotology 12
Semantic Memory15
Willful-ignorance and akrasia16
Theory
Phenomenology, myth, pragmatism, and semiotics18
Phenomenology18
Myth
Pragmatism
Semiotics
FIELD PLACEMENT AND ACTIVITIES

Placement and Activities	. 27
Process	. 28
1st approach	. 28
2nd approach	. 29
3rd approach	. 30
Questions	. 31
CHALLENGES AND SUCCESSES	. 37
Challenges	. 37
Successes	. 39
SUGGESTIONS AND NEXT STEPS	. 42
Suggestions	. 42
Next Steps	. 43
CONCLUSION	. 45
REFERENCES	. 47
APPENDICES	. 54
Appendix A: Community Based Organization Target Sites	. 54
Appendix B: Introduction to Aunt Bertha for Community Based Organizations	. 58
Appendix C: Humboldt County Community Resource list	. 60
Appendix D: Letters of Introduction	61
Version 1	61
Version 2	61
Follow-up	. 62

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A: Community Based Organization Target Sites	. 54
Appendix B: Introduction to Aunt Bertha for Community Based Organizations	. 58
Appendix C: Humboldt County Community Resource list	. 60
Appendix D: Letters of Introduction	. 61

INTRODUCTION

Communities of every size worldwide have stories that survive across time. Each generation receives the story from someone who learned it before. Some stories remain reasonably constant throughout their communal life, with each new iteration looking similar to the one before. Other stories, though, go through a significant transformation over time. The story is no longer simply a second-hand recounting of an event but something that can be generalized to authentic experiences. Most people in a community have experienced the story's premise firsthand or have known someone who had the experience.

When a tale directly ties into the lived experiences of a community, the origin of the story becomes a local myth. The source is not always clear, but the story is considered indisputable and credible within the community. Through repetition, the myth becomes a social fact within a social setting. The social fact is viewed as accurate, well known, and can create cohesion among groups; if each group has experienced the same social fact, a bond can form between groups due to shared experiences.

I began my journey into myth and social facts by looking at what elements of my community are considered authentic and factual yet have a vague origin. One topic stood out because it is pervasive and known yet attempts to address it have been met with scrutiny and doubt: a lack of services in Humboldt County.

For generations, it has been well known throughout Humboldt County and Northern California that there are no services here. Services, in this case, typically mean medical and social services. I have heard that there are no services here all of my life and had even said it in conversation. The story that there are no services in this area is accompanied by personal anecdotes of not being able to find a needed service or a social connection wanting services.

It is a social fact born out of repeated stories linked by shared experiences in this area that services are inadequate, sparse, or non-existent. Because of this social fact, people frequently do not seek the assistance they need because they would be chasing something not there. In other words, behavior is turned away from action because social fact is regarded as absolute truth. To seek something that, according to the community, does not exist would only serve to create distance between the community and the seeker.

In the following chapters, I will outline my approach to understanding the creation of social facts and my journey in engaging with health care services in my home community. I start by describing the primary mechanisms used to create a myth and social facts. Social myths and facts are dependent on the community they originate from. They are built out of customs, language, symbols, and interpretation, which change due to incalculable factors.

I will then describe my involvement with the most significant healthcare and social service provider in Humboldt County and how we addressed service issues in this area. Unfortunately, the work that went into this project has been left in an incomplete state due to various circumstances. Thankfully, the nature of this project and the ways we attempted to bridge the service knowledge gap in Northern California are not dependent on a single entity. If nothing else, the work that went into this project lives on as an independent entity spreading throughout Northern California.

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Guiding Research Questions

I had to consider several questions to guide my work through an applied project. They ranged from broad topics used to frame my work to regionally specific questions used to illuminate project details. These questions would assist in developing a theoretical model that would suit such a project and guide me toward a suitable project site. Additional questions emerged once my position within Open Door Community Health Centers (ODCHC) was secured and the details of the project were developed. *How Does Social Myth Become Social Fact?*

The principal question guiding the theoretical aspects of the project focuses on how social myth becomes social fact. Myth can be described as a widely held belief that is verifiably false, while a fact is a piece of information known to be true. Socially speaking, facts do not have to be verifiable; they just have to be known or assumed to be true.

Roland Barthes (1972) describes myth as a form of language that is not necessarily spoken (but that is no rule); it is verbal, pictorial, and expressive (Barthes 1972; 107-108). Language is influential, and in the liberal application used by Roland Barthes, language also has longevity. Reinforcing the strength of language used, Saussure lends the concept of semiotics which studies signs (such as language) and their impact on social life and psychology (Saussure 1983, 15-16).

Semiotics in terms of social life and meaning is difficult to describe. Daniel Chandler et al. (2001) cautiously and with mirth describes semiotics as "the study of signs." Sign, however, can mean anything when applied to social settings. For simplicity, I will limit signs to linguistics similar to Ferdinand de Saussure in the book Course in General Linguistics (1983). Linguistic signs in a social setting follow an arbitrary value system (Chandler et al. 2001; Reyes 2021; Barthes 1972).

Further, Reyes (2021) argues that once a sign value is established, it takes on the status of an emblem; in other words, a thing a social persona is attached to. Reyes' (2021) argument is confirmed and extended by Galantucci, Garrod, and Roberts (2012), who tells us that while value and emblems are typical and perhaps a defining factor of linguistic signs, such features are not present in non-verbal communications such as sign language. The rationale comes from the arbitrary and insular value placed on speech patterns and the social value of the speaker (Galantucci, Garrod Roberts 2012).

A social myth exists between semiotics and culture (Fiorini and Socolovsky, 2013). However, it is the case that myth is fluid and changes over time as meaning and culture change (Barthes 1972; Bauman 2013). Likewise, social myths, identity, and culture are items or emblems attained by outside agents seeking to understand a system, not their own (Fiorini and Socolovsky, 2013; Hall et al., 1996).

Further, social myth must be firmly believed to gain traction to the point that actions are taken based on the myth (Seigfried 2012; Barthes 1972). James Campbell (2017), in agreement, describes the previous in terms of pragmatics. When a thought has been widely accepted, it becomes a belief set of rules for action or behavior (Campbell 2017: 117; Siegfried 2012; Jucker 2012).

With few exceptions, semiotics, pragmatism, and myth function together to establish linguistic and behavioral values that establish rules for action or inaction (Barthes 1972; Bauman 2013; Campbell 2017: 117; Chandler et al. 2001; Fiorini and Socolovsky 2013; Reyes 2021; Galantucci, Garrod Roberts 2012; Hall, Smyth and Du Gay 1996; Jucker 2012; Siegfried 2012). In the primary example of this work, the idea that services in Humboldt County are inadequate or non-existent became a belief once it was accepted. Once the myth was accepted as truth, the new truth became a sign, or in this case, an emblem (Fiorini and Socolovsky 2013) that informs a social persona. The persona is one of despair over a lack of resources. The persona, coupled with a sincere belief in the myth, has created and reinforced rules for behavior among Humboldt County residents. The behavior is that they do not seek or inquire about services because it is known that there are none to be had. In essence, the social belief acts as a religion (Seigfried 2012) and is therefore viewed as authentic.

Martimianakis, Tilburt, Michalec, and Hafferty (2020) argue that during the scientific revolution of the 19th century, there was hope that social myth would be replaced by science; the opposite was found to be true. Although Charlene Seigfried (2012) and Nathan Biebel (2018) argue that science and religion or belief in something fulfill the same social functions and needs in that they provide a story for people to base persona and action on regardless of if that action is based in fact or not. Science or access to factual information reinforces social mythologies and builds social bonds (Martimianakis et al., 2020; Nissani and Hoefler-Nissani 1992). Eradicating myths or unverifiable beliefs destroy social bonds and is met with denialism and sometimes

aggression (Slater et al. 2018). Nissani and Hoefler-Nissani (1992) and Kenneth Strike and George Posner (1992) describe the doubling down against factual information by suggesting that rigid belief allows people to see their beliefs or allow an agent to reasonably explain their experience through their beliefs.

So how then does a myth become a fact? We understand that myths come from language or meaning symbols attributed to language (Barthes 1972: 107-108; Saussure 1983: 15-16). To ponder the myth-to-fact relationship, I sometimes turn to the essay Myth Became Fact by C.S. Lewis (1970), who argues that a myth becomes a fact when we are cut off from the source and consider the origin in hind-sight. This is to say that in the wake of an event, we are inclined as thinkers to apply meaning to the event. The further we are from the event, the more obscure the event becomes, and a myth is born. Should the core principle of the story remain, a fact is accepted. The function is identical to simulations and simulacra (Baudrillard 1983). Myth becomes fact through copies and imitation of an event or form of language that may or may not has existed in the past. The result is a fact that no longer fully represents the myth.

What are the Social Consequences of a Myth Becoming Fact?

When a myth, which is inherently false (Barthes 1972), becomes a fact, there are inevitable consequences. The contents of the myth/ fact have the power to dictate action and behavior across social structures and institutions (Arkhipova and Brodie 2020). In some instances, myth becoming fact can inspire massive changes such as the founding of the religion, adopting policy, and engineering acceptable and unacceptable behavior (Shermer 2002: 48-54).

When a fact is formed from myth, actors invested in the fact engage in procedural epistemic obligations (Rosen 2003). As Philip Robichaud (2014) points out, these obligations are actions that enforce and maintain true or at least justifiable beliefs; bear in mind that "true" in this context means socially valid and not necessarily factually accurate.

Grossman and van der Weele (2017) argue that willful ignorance, such as accepting a myth as factual for the sake of social image or fitting into a preferred social group, will result in social harm. Individuals who remain ignorant when given a choice or opportunity to be educated engage in selfish behaviors that can negatively affect others while allowing the agent to say that had they known better, they would have acted differently (Grossman and van der Weele 2017). Prelec and Bodner (2003) describe the previous idea as self-signaling, or the process of acting in a way that reaps diagnostic (internal) or consequence (external) reward depending on the context of the behavior. To bring the example back to Grossman and van der Weele (2017), the ability of an agent to say they would have acted differently if they had more information is self-signaling, as defined by Prelec and Bodner (2003). The agent may receive a positive consequence response by stating their ignorance and, by doing so, may also reap a diagnostic reward (moral pleasure or pain) through acknowledging the flaw in behavior (Prelec and Bodner 2003; Grossman and van der Weele 2017).

Supporting Prelec and Bodner (2003), we can turn to Oliver Gossner and Christoph Kuzmics (2018). They argue that when an agent is put into a position to decide without prior knowledge of the result of the decision, they will still apply personal preferences to the available options. The selections are based on the results of prior decisions. An agent deciding on a new social fact will weigh it against previous outcomes or other social group members' perceived successes and failures (Gossner and Kuzmics 2018).

The consequences of social facts become a loop of culpable ignorance and akrasia (Robichaud 2014). The agent makes a decision based on experience and expectations (Grossman and van der Weele 2017; Prelec and Bodner 2003; Gossner and Kuzmics 2018). Should the fact ever be dismantled or shown to be wrong, the agent can self-signal (Prelec and Bodner 2003) or claim that they acted against their better judgment because of pressures from an in-group (Robichaud 2014). Myth becoming fact has built-in buffers that protect those who believe in the fact from the consequences of their actions. Interestingly enough, ignorance can be used as a social tool to absolve oneself of moral blame (Rudy-Hiller 2017). Although if ignorance is deemed culpable or akratic, the moral responsibility remains (Rudy-Hiller 2017).

Is it a Myth Turned Social Fact When People Say There are no Service in Humboldt County?

Every community has its myths and facts. They are not necessarily harmful or helpful, but they do exist. In Humboldt County, CA, the concept that there are "no services" in this area is often taken as fact. People living in this area frequently hear that there are no services, and many people in need of services will not seek them out because of the social fact that no services exist. Why is this a social fact in Humboldt? Where did the belief that there are no services in Humboldt come from, and what has the impact been?

It seems that the social fact comes from an exaggeration. When people say there are no services, they mean that services are few of the available services are inadequate. Likewise, many services do not advertise their presence and depend on referrals from larger organizations. Lack of public knowledge outside of specialized services has resulted in a lack of social knowledge of existing services.

Are There Services in Humboldt?

Verifiably, there are services in this area. According to the North Coast Resource Hub (2021) and FindHelp.org (2022), there are many resources in this area. During my work, I discovered that many of the resources in this area do not have open communication. Additionally, the number of services 1,821 (FindHelp 2022) is not entirely accurate. While 1,821 services are technically available, most are not located in this area. The services must be accessed online or through other means (FindHelp 2022). However, the North Coast Resource Hub lists 275 services in our area (NCRS 2021). The difference between the two databases is that FindHelp includes state and national services. The discrepancy between the listed services reflects the lack of communication amongst organizations. Most services listed on FindHelp operate at the state and national levels and may not have local representation.

How can Access and Knowledge of Services be Improved?

Once my host site established the project parameters, the question of access and knowledge arose. Open Door Community Health Centers had established that Humboldt

County does have services, yet people were still adamant that there were none. Some parts of the team reported that many community-based organizations (CBOs) were not aware of other services. Medical and social services staff who would occasionally join our group told us that referrals to outside services were based on provider knowledge. It became clear that there was a lack of communication between CBOs, clients, and care providers. They were all unaware of the other.

To improve access, it is crucial then to improve knowledge (Verwijs et al. 2020; Birgisdóttir et al. 2021). Access means little if the intended recipients do not know something is available. Increasing service awareness and knowledge are the main factors driving the project work.

What can Access Look Like Going Forward?

Remaining with a project revolving around resource access over a long period is not currently doable. Inevitably the work of gathering CBO data swells and includes other tasks. For example, the other people on the project team are other staff. Collecting data then becomes a minor task among more significant functions. Moving forward, improved access will depend on people willing to do the work while fulfilling other duties. Thankfully, the work is easy to do if maintained.

Going forward, access looks like better knowledge paired with easy access to relevant information (Verwijs et al. 2020; Birgisdóttir et al. 2021). Service information must be easy to access when needed and be up to date. Moreover, access looks like better communication between organizations. The shortcomings resulting from a lack of knowledge and communication between provider and user bases need to be remedied to improve accessibility.

A significant factor limiting access in the present is the priority many people must place on basic human needs such as food and shelter (Hoshide, Manog, Noh, & Omori 2011). For many, focusing on necessities takes precedence over seeking additional services. Likewise, there is a national issue of people lacking the skills to navigate basic service programs such as subsidized healthcare, keeping identification documents, and the like (Feldman, Buchalter, and Hayes 2018). Keenan et al. (2020) argue that improved service and resource access begins with identifying the root causes that impede access and then understanding those issues to see where there is room for improvement. It is then essential to determine the range of services and expectations between clients and providers and visa-versa. The final step is to determine the dimensions of services, such as affordability and availability, and then, ideally, access will be improved (Keenan et al. 2020).

Specific Terminology

Agnotology.

Agnotology is the study of culturally-induced ignorance (Proctor and Schiebinger 2008); this term goes further to describe the condition by which having increased available knowledge of a subject may leave one uncertain or doubtful of the subject (Rose and Bartoli 2020). This condition may be becoming more common due to the increased availability of public information. An additional element leading to the uncertainty presented by Buckingham (2019) and Entman (2007) is one's personal bias

which causes the consumer to select the information that conforms to their narrative and perception. News media, government reports, academic studies, and the like elect to leave out certain information or otherwise leave something vague, which can worsen doubt and uncertainty (Rose & Bartoli 2020). These omissions or under-explained areas have the consequence of manufacturing ignorance because the subject matter is incomplete yet often presented as the whole story (Koehler and Jost 2019). To a person who has little time to engage in a meaningful and critical way with available information and publications, an incomplete picture may go unnoticed or unexplored (Stanford History Education Group, 2016) due to media illiteracy and consumption culture. Ignorance can sometimes be created unintentionally through fill-in-the-blank rationality, where the information based on memories or previously observed patterns of a similar situation (Bauer and Jackson 2015).

In the case of local resources in Humboldt County, It is common to hear speculative news media reporting on the state of available resources with incomplete information. Such reporting can be seen in a recent local news article reporting on the upcoming resignation of a local politician due to "poor local healthcare options" (Goff 2022). The article does little to elaborate on what poor healthcare options are or in what areas of healthcare. All it serves to do is provide information on a local politician while reinforcing the idea that there are no services in this area. It now appears to be expected for political figures to use media platforms as a tool to spread their own words regardless of the depth (Rose & Bartoli, 2020). The broadcasting of speculative information can

easily lead to manufactured or induced ignorance in a society that values the rapid consumption of media with little scrutiny (Hedding, Miller, Abdenour, and Blankenship 2019). The goal is not to educate the consumer in a meaningful way but to pander to popular opinion.

In support of this notion, we can turn to decisions-under-risk (Gustaffson 2020), where without access to adequate information, a consumer will likely resort to making decisions based on speculation because ideal decision-making conditions are not available. Gossner and Kuzmics (2018) argue that when faced with a decision and lacking full context, an individual will make speculations on the decision outcome by analyzing the relative success of others who have made similar decisions. In other words, when one is unsure of an outcome, they will look to a figurehead that has had positive outcomes or perceived positive outcomes to justify their own decision. In the search for health and social services, an agent may elect not to effectively pursue help because a social figurehead had no positive outcomes in their search. In social settings and information outlets, if someone with high symbolic, social, or economic capital were to share a story about their experiences, that story becomes more likely to be viewed and further shared by others regardless of truth or validity (Gossner and Kuzmics, 2018). This is due to the notion that someone with high social capital will make more favorable decisions, and if others make similar decisions, they too will gain an increase in social capital. Interestingly, capital in these instances is social capital. Agreeing with a social authority or social majority increases the agent's probability of remaining in social favor and part of the in-group.

Gilbert (2017) suggests that our bias promotes ignorance due to a fundamental distrust of new information. This confirmation bias steers the individual to disregard information that does not fit one's belief or experience and instead encourages one to select the information that gives us validation or confirmation regardless of fallibility.

Semantic Memory.

Semantic memory is the information and experiences stored in our minds that can readily be recalled (Bauer and Jackson 2015). We store so much information that we combine separate information or experiences and manufacture false memories and expectations, or we sometimes attribute new information with old memories and create new ideas (Bauer and Jackson 2015). It has been shown that the human mind is often the victim of association and given a set of information, we will instinctively create categories based on what we assume fits together (Bauer and Jackson 2015). However, association does not always mean causation. If someone is given a piece of information that sounds reasonable enough (there are no services in Humboldt) or goes along with the subject's views, the new information will likely be eagerly believed and categorized into their semantic memory (Balmas 2012). When searching for new information about a topic that is only occasionally necessary, such as finding healthcare and social services, it is sometimes the case that opinions on a social matter are formed with exposure to factual information coupled with social myths or facts. According to Balmas (2012), memories of what a high-ranking social figure has done or said can be skewed in one's memory depending on personal exposure to systemic and institutional experiences. Likewise, when viewed together, Balmas' (2012) research suggests that news stories and

new information become more believable if presented in close temporal proximity to relevant events. For example, a news story about a lack of healthcare in an area, coupled with difficulty finding services, will increase the believability of information, suggesting that there are no services in an area.

In some cases, incorporating information into the semantic memory is an issue of pride over reason where a subject is unwilling to commit to information contrary to a prior belief or assumption. A study conducted by Nissani and Hoelfer-Nissani (1992) demonstrated this same phenomenon. During the study, a group was provided with a set of incorrect equations and was tasked with using the equations to solve a problem. All participants of the study by Nissani and Nissani (1992) were incorrect in their work but refused to admit they had made a mistake or had been fooled even after the ruse was revealed. Through this experiment, we see how belief can sometimes outweigh logic and rationality. The subjects were intentionally guided to make incorrect responses during a trial, yet they refused to believe in the deception, even after the misdirection was revealed.

Willful-ignorance and akrasia.

Willful ignorance is the intentional avoidance of information and evidence about the consequences of one's social action (Grossman and van der Weele 2016). Robichaud (2014) makes an essential distinction between willful or culpable ignorance and akrasia; two terms often used interchangeably. Grossman and van der Weele (2016) described that Willful-Ignorance is an intentional avoidance or dismissal of evidence, while akrasia is the ignorance that comes from acting against one's instinct or better judgment (Robichaud 2014). Some people are ignorant without recognizing they are missing information and can confidently present their ideas without considering flaws in the idea. This is without any feelings of doubt or second-guessing characteristic of instances of akrasia where someone chooses to believe something or act against their own better judgment due to societal, communal, and internal pressures (Robichaud 2014).

These occurrences can be explained using a logic study that shows how information is presented affects how it is retained (Ruiz-Ballesteros, Moreno-Ríos 2017). If the information given to make a deduction is presented in simple if X then Y statements, it is often more retainable than something more complicated like an if X, then Y, or Z statement (Ruiz-Ballesteros & Moreno-Ríos, 2017). The connection here is that when new information is being learned, it is better retained when presented compared to when it is presented in a more complicated manner. In other words, how something is framed determines how much validity, retainability, and spreadability it is viewed to have.

Sometimes referred to as a framing bias, the way information is set up and framed for specific audiences determines the power of that information and the power held by the subject (Entman, 2007). The issue is that simple information designed for general consumption is often lacking in depth compared to something which may be more detailed and made for a more specific audience which is supported by Koehler and Jost (2019), who argue that persuasive information tends to favor action words and drama to gain an audience instead of the more detailed and factual language typical of scientific and academic works. The simple data leads to confidence spreading, while the in-depth data, when consumed by the general audience, can lead to akrasia where the one spreading the information has doubts about their comprehension and does not fully understand the content. The lack of akrasia, however, can sometimes manifest itself in forms of denialism (Slater et al. 2018), whereas demonstrated in the trials by Nissani and Nissani (1992), people can sometimes insist they are correct even when shown to be incorrect beyond a reasonable doubt. Moreover, it is sometimes the first response of a person to believe information at face value due to a belief in the honesty of incoming information and whether the incoming information matches data stored in their memory (Brashier & Marsh 2019; Sterelny 2010).

Theory

Phenomenology, myth, pragmatism, and semiotics.

From a theoretical standpoint, this project is based on four main concepts; phenomenology, myth, pragmatics, and semantics. Each theoretical frame lends an integral part to the creation of social facts and how information is used to inform behaviors.

Phenomenology.

Phenomenology in a sociological context is a means to examine and explain social order as a creation of ordinary interactions (Novak 2018). In a social setting, phenomenology also derives experience-based meaning from the senses and sometimes in an abstract way. Jean-Paul Sartre (2010) describes senses such as the five basic human senses mingling with more abstract human senses such as anticipation or absence. Sartre (2010) gives an example of meeting a friend in a cafe, and the friend does not show up. The friend's absence triggers an abstract sense that there is now something missing (the friend) from the cafe. The phenomenological perspective takes that average experience and attempts to derive greater meaning about the social world from ordinary experiences.

Assuming truth, or at least validity, in phenomenology and that ordinary experiences shape the lifeworld by sheer volume, I could work from the assumption that services in Humboldt County are available, but perhaps people assumed there were none. Undoubtedly, their assumed absence from this community is a significant area of concern.

As a member of the community I was working within, I had to engage in bracketing to remove myself from my environment to get a better view. I have known that there are no services in Humboldt County, or at least been told. The concept had been repeated to me so many times that it had become a subconscious fact. However, having been on the fringe of medical work and social services most of my life, I knew that there are services in this area. I set myself apart from my community's values, norms, and taken-for-granted information as best as I could. Without taking measures against my preconceived notions, the work of gathering material for the project would have been daunting. Hypothetically speaking, what is the use of looking for something that does not exist? Therefore, I had to separate myself from the social fact that services do not exist in Humboldt County.

The next necessary approach is to understand the lifeworld and intersubjectivity of this community (Schutz 1972). Those living in Humboldt County experience similar built-in structures that guide our perception. While we may experience similar things in

19

our lifeworld, we also experience them differently from one another. The experiences known to be confirmed on the individual level are subjective and based on an object/ subject relationship, as described by Carnap (1967). I (the subject) have experienced a lack of resources (the object) in this area, giving intersubjective meaning to my lifeworld.

Meanwhile, the intersubjective (Schutz 1972) value placed on the items within the lifeworld shapes the meaning I derive from my experience. Because we are not alone in the world and we all exist together, and prior experience shapes everyday experience, we can also say that we are all influencing others while also being influenced by others; which, of course, further develops and reinforces our view of the lifeworld (Berger & Del Negro 2002; Duranti 2010; Schutz 1972; Trondalen 2019;).

The last approaches consider recipes and stocks of knowledge, focusing on how prior experience provides navigation information (recipes) for handling an event. All navigation information is stored in our memory and becomes a stock of knowledge. A knowledge stock is comparable to a storeroom full of items that can be used to make new things. In this way, our stock of knowledge is filled with recipes that tell us how to create an outcome based on a given situation.

At the heart of this project are stocks of knowledge. It is an unconscious social fact based on the taken-for-granted experiences that people in this area know no available services (Hinkle 1974; O'Shea 2021). This stock also dictates behavior among social groups by providing a stock of knowledge that renders actions good or bad. If one reports to their social group that they have no access to a needed service, it is met with approval and agreement from the group who likewise have similar experiences. Here we get into

the recipes or the instructions for behavior based on knowledge stocks. It is known that looking for services is a fruitless venture, so the predetermined recipe based on the stock of knowledge is to do nothing then unless necessary. In some cases, lack of behavior, or inaction, is a behavior.

Myth.

Myth is an abstract concept but one that is well known. Socially, myth is popularly considered a historical recounting of an event that can explain something about our environment (Barthes 1972; Frog 2018; Mayr & Schmid 2010). Myth or mythologies can also be described as a social contract or an agreement widely accepted by a group who have had similar experiences to the content of the myth (Leeson 2008; Yen & Dey 2019).

To the detriment of those subscribing to a myth, whether consciously or not, such explanations act as a blinder in that myth provides an excuse not to explore a situation and creates a separation between a subject (myth) and an object (agent) (Biebel 2018; Kasprzak 2022; Robichaud 2014; Slater et al. 2018).

Myth is an essential aspect of this work because myth provides a narrative regarding lived experiences. Myth creates a bond or social contract that, in many ways, alleviates harm from a social condition. In Humboldt County, the myth that there are no services here, while harmful, provides cohesion as well as an excuse. It is not unusual to see people in this area bond over not being able to see a provider; meanwhile, they may not have ever sought help; they have only assumed there is none to be had. It is important to note that there is some disagreement on the dangers of social myth. Stanislaw Brzozowski (1878-1911) viewed social myth as an elevating factor in the lifeworld because of its ability to be interpreted. Brzozowski described myth as an organ that enabled the flow of life (Brzozowski 2020, 86-87). The organ or myth, which is made up of inherited languages, provides an open interpretation of the meaning of the myth, which in turn can allow people to use myth to elevate their social status (Barthe 1957, 107-115; Brzozowski 2020, 86).

Pragmatism.

Pragmatism is a socio-philosophical tool that considers words, thoughts, and signs as tools for actions; actions such as problem-solving, predictions, and making meaning (Ghiraldelli & Carr 2005; Peirce 1878). A pragmatic approach to sociology also holds that words and thoughts as environmental factors will affect the beliefs of individuals and groups (Gao 2018; Ghiraldelli & Carr 2005).

As pragmatism makes meaning from words, thoughts, and signs (Peirce 1878), it is relativistic in nature. The items we use to determine meaning are not always the same from one group to the next or even over time in a given setting. Because pragmatism looks different at different times and places, it is not a complete philosophy, and it is exempt from rationality (Margolis 2021); it follows few patterns and has no beginning or end. Because of the intersubjectivity of pragmatism, the concept is not concerned with truth or fact; instead, the focus is on outcomes (Brendel 2006; Gillespie & Cornish 2009). Semiotics.

Semiotics is related to pragmatics but in a broader sense. Semiotics studies signs and their ability to create meaning over time and space while also influencing actions, language, and thought (Barthes 1972; Manning 2010; Zolyan 2019). As Roland Barthes (1972) described, myth is language, and language is made of words, thoughts, symbols, signs, culture, and so on (Chandler et al. 2001; Peirce 1878). Semiotics becomes one of the many studies of creating meaning out of the contents of the lifeworld.

The previously described theoretical orientations, Phenomenology, myth, pragmatics, and semiotics all come together to describe a process of creating meaning. A myth which is a sort of language, is also made up of signs and symbols. Interpretations of a myth are made at various times and places by different people who each interpret and recite the myth differently depending on what is relevant to their experience. Different interpretations of the myth will affect the belief and capacity for action, which further alters the meaning and representation.

Through the previous process, we can begin to understand how an idea based on a mechanism of existence and experience (there are no services in Humboldt County) can evolve to become a fact of life in a community. The social fact is so ingrained in the community that it has become a reason for inactivity or, in some cases, a cause to encourage others not to act against the fact.

FIELD PLACEMENT AND ACTIVITIES

Humboldt County, like anywhere, has its social facts that influence its residents. With the themes of social myth and social fact in mind, I thought about the social facts in this area. Many things are taken for granted in Humboldt County. Because taken for granted knowledge is well established, the knowledge stock is rarely challenged (O'Shea 2021). Perhaps the most prolific stock of knowledge in this area is that there are no social and medical services. Those that exist are inadequate and leave residents wanting more or going without.

Wanting to examine social myths and social facts surrounding healthcare services, my next step was to find local health and social service experts who would be willing to talk with me or allow some amount of collaboration. I was introduced to the memberservices director for Open Door Community Health Centers (ODCHC) through connections and cold-calling. I told her my concerns and thoughts about local services and if the talk about no services was a serious concern. We spoke about the issues at length, and then she told me that ODCHC had been examining the same questions with increasing vigor since COVID-19 forced statewide lockdowns in mid-2020. Health and safety protocols had isolated so many people and forced many to learn new and sometimes intimidating ways to navigate social services. Likewise, many people working in the health and social service industry had been laid off as locations closed, leaving too few people to service the area's residents.

Local service providers noticed a trend that indicated that fear and doubt regarding the health crisis and lack of knowledge about navigating new protocols had led many vulnerable people to go without needed care. New and relevant information dispersal slowed down as care groups and support services were shuttered.

The member services director described to me two projects that may suit me. Both projects concerned resource knowledge in the local area, with one project focused on juvenile resources and care and the other more generalizable to the larger community. Both projects sought to address knowledge gaps identified as risks to Humboldt County residents. The projects were described to me in terms of a juggling act. The juggler has multiple balls in the air. Some of the balls are made of rubber, and some are glass. If the juggler were to drop a rubber ball, they could pick it up again without repercussions. However, the glass ball cannot be dropped without it shattering. Olmstead's analogy demonstrated that ODCHC has many issues and projects they work on; some require less direct attention than others and are akin to a rubber ball. Other tasks they work on are more urgent, require more focus, and are comparable to the glass ball. The juvenile resource project was considered a glass ball, while the more generalizable project was a rubber ball. I asked for the rubber ball. The rationale was that there was room for the project to evolve and change if need be. There were very few fixed parameters with only one objective; to improve access and knowledge of resources in this area.

To return to the analogy of the juggler, an organization such as ODCHC is like the juggler, and a juggler's props are an organization's projects and goals. The more projects, the bigger the organization, or to speak of performances, the more props, the bigger the show. Saul Alinsky tells us that an organization with a single-issue focus cannot survive and will stifle itself (Walls 2014). An organization must set itself up to be

25

a multi-issue organization to last because more issues in focus mean more membership or engagement in the organization (Walls 2014). ODCHC, as a non-profit organization (NPO), has so many projects and affiliated organizations that it stands as an excellent example of a multi-issue organization in a small community. Because of its capacity to handle many issues and projects simultaneously, ODCHC was able to act as a catalyst to investigate and improve the knowledge of smaller organizations throughout the area. ODCHC has taken on many ventures to increase its services and employs many people to run those projects.

Having selected my preferred project, ODCHC and I began to discuss how the question of health and social services is not strictly about their absence but is about the lack of awareness of the services. It was explained that the most significant obstacle to accessing service was the lack of awareness not just from resource seekers but also from providers. To that point, referrals to services were based on the individual's ability to effectively navigate internet searches or information given by a service provider, which frequently depended on the provider's knowledge of services. Likewise, there was little cohesion among local non-profit organizations (NPOs), health services, and social services. Many organizations were unaware of their neighboring groups, which only worsened the awareness problem.

Additional issues were on the rise. Not only was awareness of available services low across the population and service providers, but the COVID-19 health crisis had reduced employee numbers for many services. Local health and social service employees were being furloughed, which meant that while there were technically services, there was no one to keep their doors open. The global health crisis served to further strengthen the idea that there were no services.

The solution seen by ODCHC was to develop a tool they had access to called "Aunt Bertha" (See Appendix B), also called "FindHelp." Aunt Bertha is an online platform that shows users what free services are available in their area; the system allows users to search based on demographic information. Aunt Bertha is not a ready-to-use system; however, for it to be helpful, the system needs to be populated with information about CBOs. Information like addresses and contact information were collected at first, and as work progressed, the gathered info was refined. Once a site was cached, a user could see contact info, websites, mission statements, care types, other services provided by the same site, and more.

Placement and Activities

The project had been chosen, a description of the issues at play had been given, and the tasks broadly laid out. I was paired with a team of case managers working under an executive from ODCHC who was similarly concerned with the lack of service utilization and awareness in this area. Working with the team, we developed a shortlist of target sites for me to contact right away; the team added to the list as they could.

Although we were primarily focused on senior resources, I was allowed to research other services as well because the resource list needed to be comprehensive. I was engaged with researching and developing a site list to work from (see appendix A), and many community-based organization leads were given to me to follow up on. The next step in the process was to develop a plan of action for how to contact target sites. The ODCHC team and I initially agreed that we needed to reach out to individual sites to discuss this project's dimensions and gauge interest. We all anticipated that contact would be difficult as many smaller CBOs were operating by appointment only and were not regularly staffed due to public health concerns. I began to develop a process of contacting sites. A task made more difficult due to a CSU prohibition on faceto-face meetings for students. My process and methods are detailed below:

Process

The process to add CBOs to FindHelp took three primary forms and required periodic modifications in order to overcome challenges or new approaches. The approaches were in part guided by a contact whom the developers of the FindHelp platform employ.

1st approach.

I wrote several drafts of an introduction letter explaining who I am (see appendix D), my connection to ODCHC, and my role as a graduate student. The introductory letter went on to explain why I was contacting the CBO. The next section of the document explained our community goals and the project details. The introduction also served as a script for phone calls if there was no way to reach a site by email. The first method did not yield good results. I received one email in response and no return phone calls.

The one response I received was very positive. We had a brief conversation in which I provided more details about Aunt Bertha and how it could help the organization and community members. The site liked the concept but would not confirm their desire to be added to the Aunt Bertha list.

The general lack of response to my introduction was likely due to an overabundance of information upfront. I was advised by the team that my email was too long and a bit complicated. Anyone from a CBO reading it might disregard it as a solicitation or otherwise not worth the time to address. I was put in contact with a representative from FindHelp. He reviewed my process and told me that I was overcomplicating the outreach and that FindHelp would be doing outreach on its own once a CBO was submitted to the program, which led me to the following approach.

2nd approach.

The second approach was an abridged version of the first letter of introduction (See appendix D). I removed much of the introduction letter that explained my role as a student and intern for ODCHC. Instead, I introduced myself as a representative of ODCHC and would like to add their CBO to the FindHelp platform. Unfortunately, no one responded yet again. There was an obstacle present that I had not anticipated; Emails and phone calls were going unanswered, and I could not figure out why.

The ODCHC team suggested that there was nearly no response due to local pandemic precautions. We discussed the possibility that smaller organizations had sent employees home and their offices were perhaps not regularly staffed. The irony was pointed out that there were fewer accessible services in this area than ever before in a time of health and social crisis. Precautions taken to reduce the spread of COVID-19 in Humboldt County were contributing to the rise of other adverse health outcomes. Negative health outcomes such as isolation and loneliness, which according to the ODCHC case management team, heavily impact mental and emotional well-being.

After consulting with the representative from FindHelp, he suggested I stop soliciting the service altogether and begin submitting CBOs to the FindHelp team as I found them. His rationale was that my methods were wasting time because Aunt Bertha's staff would vet and screen potential CBOs before adding them to the system. After taking the suggestions with the ODCHC team, we began to create our final strategy.

3rd approach.

It was agreed upon by myself and the case management team that we would no longer be cold contacting CBOs. Our efforts to that point had accomplished remarkably little in a relatively long period. We agreed to take the advice of FindHelp and focus our efforts on the platform.

At this point, I devoted my time to creating a comprehensive list of CBOs (see appendix A) that could fit our project goals and parameters. Once the list was complete, I screened for organizations that worked with our initial goals and tabled others that were not suited to our project. I created these lists from publicly available information and from searching out existing service lists (see appendix C) that were kept by providers. I again asked ODCHC staff for any additional CBOs they would like added.

As lists were generated, I would submit them to the FindHelp team. Some were accepted, and others were rejected. The FindHelp platform will only accept organizations that offer free services and are open to the public. There are a few exceptions to their guidelines. An organization can be closed to the general public if its services are designed for a specific demographic. For example, senior services are added even though they do not serve everyone. Culturally specific programs are also allowed; while they do not serve the public, they are beneficial to typically smaller cultural groups in this area, such as the Hmong community or Tribal members.

The turnaround time for approval or rejection ranged from hours to two weeks, depending on the information provided with the submission. If a site were to be approved, the CBO and myself would be notified, and the organization staff would be able to enter FindHelp and customize their information. If a site were rejected, I would be notified by FindHelp staff. I was typically asked for additional information or to confirm incomplete information. Once approved, a CBO profile was created, and their staff could service the profile if desired.

The third approach, which was the most simple, was also the most effective method of populating the FindHelp platform. However, the lack of response to the initial contact attempts raised several questions among the team.

Questions

Why was there so little response from CBOs? The one response given was positive, but the site was unwilling to approve or deny my request to populate CBO information.

After consulting with the ODCHC case management team, we began to examine the possibility that CBOs are largely unaware of each other. Therefore, they do not see an immediate need to support other CBOs who need the same resources. Most social service organizations in this area are small and serve a particular part of the population. The possibility that these organizations have become insular to focus on their primary concern seemed to be confirmed. With the scope of the problem generalized apart from client/ provider service ignorance to organizational ignorance, I began to consider that their differences in service type also reflect differences in execution. Each group was different in some way from its counterparts. Possible differences in structure and service methods would undoubtedly determine how these organizations interact with other organizations and outside interests.

Different organizational approaches bring up the multiplicity of public sociologies (Burawoy, 2004). Each organization is in conversation with the public somehow, just as Burawoy (2004) described public sociologies or people themselves to be engaged in public discourse to achieve a desired outcome (Bandura 1971; Burawoy 2004). To go further, based on descriptions of organic public sociology and social learning, each group or agent interacts with a particular community element according to its preference (Burawoy 2004; Jucker 2012), the organizations in Humboldt County fill a similar role.

In terms of organic public sociologies, or in this case, organizations, the connection can be strengthened. These organizations seek to educate the public about the issues they are concerned with. However, due to their small size and refined scope, they often remain somewhat invisible to the greater public outside of their frame. The unexpected result is extra-institutional willful ignorance, similarly described by Stephan M. Schaefer (2019), and an action gap that results in a lack of activity to reserve resources (Kretz 2012).

Schaefer (2019) and Roberts (2013) argue that organization management may intentionally pull away from an action that may lead to transformative practices. In this case, organizations may have been reluctant to become marginally connected to other services because of the changes such actions may bring (El-Jardali, Bou-Karroum & Fadlallah 2020; Gossner & Kuzmics 2015). Other arguments suggest that the unwillingness to engage in organizational transformation stems from a knowledge problem (Zack 1999). Michael Zack (1999) tells us that organization managers are often reluctant to open up to new ways of doing things and instead remain willfully ignorant for four main reasons.

Uncertainty: not having enough information about a change or alternative; Complexity: having to process more information than you can manage or understand; Ambiguity: not having a conceptual framework for interpreting information; Equivocality: having several competing or contradictory conceptual frameworks (Zack 1999). In other words, it is easier to do what has always been done or perform in the way that has worked than it is to adopt new methods of operation.

As the FindHelp project moved forward, I saw that there are services in Humboldt County and diverse services available for many different people. The questions remained. How did it become a social fact that there are no services here, and are the available services capable of aiding Humboldt County effectively?

The work being done by myself and ODCHC was not touching that question even though we were concerned with the question of social facts. The belief in inadequate services is likely the result of repetition. The idea that repetition is a factor in mythmaking and social learning is reinforced by Greer et al. (2009), who demonstrated that a subject (listener) retains new information from the object (teller) by repeating that information, and in doing so, new information is retained as semantic memory. In other words, the fact emerged because enough people began saying it to others, and they, in turn, repeated it (Hills, Jones, & Todd 2012). Paired with a relevant situation such as having difficulty getting an appointment with a needed service, the idea of being spoken to is attached to one's memory, feelings, and experience. The result is that a simple idea that becomes a myth through sharing also then becomes truth or social fact through repetition and shared experience.

Enough people have parroted the idea that there is no help in this area that the notion is now viewed as accurate and nearly indisputable. Such social actions are reinforced by Olivier Gossner and Christoph Kuzmics (2018). Gossner and Kuzmics (2018) show us that when it comes to decision-making or constructing new beliefs, people will base their new decisions on the successes or failures of their peers. In the case of services in Humboldt County, people voicing the lack of services may be viewed as the authority or a successful peer because they are in the majority. Irving Janis (1971) and Em Griffin (2006) confirmed the majority rule idea by examining groupthink mentality. As described by Griffin (2006), groupthink is based on the notion that an event in question would have been inevitable, and because something was inevitable, the group supporting the idea is rational in its beliefs. Thus, a decision of ignorance is made by service seekers who are following the examples of others and are receiving social validation as a part of the in-group (Gossner & Kuzmics, 2018).

To feel out reasons for a myth becoming a fact, we can likewise turn to Philip Robichaud (2014), who tells us that culpable ignorance can exist separately from akratic actions (but not always). Robichaud's interpretation means that culpable ignorance can be separate from akrasia. Culpable ignorance as a stand-alone condition indicates that the individual or group is steadfast in their belief and feels no need to expand their thinking (Robichaud, 2014) which is likewise a symptom of groupthink (Griffin 2006; Janis 1971). In the presence of akrasia and ignorance, the agent knows that the initial thought or action is incorrect, and they maintain the trajectory through weakness of will (Robichaud, 2014) or through the desire to maintain group cohesion (Griffin 2006; Park 2000).

Taken together, the myth and the fact that there are no services in Humboldt County is the result of a social decision to make it accurate and to maintain that truth to preserve in-group acceptance or, at the very least, to avoid standing out and becoming ostracized.

I prefer the derived explanation of the social myth described above. Nevertheless, it only provides a middle-ground basis for the process. Roland Barthes (1972) explains that myth is a type of speech enforced by discourse. Myth is also born out of interpretations, histories, linguistics, implications, and more (Barthes (1972). Barthes' approach to myth-making is a particularly complicated sociological mechanism. Myth must come from something; it is built over time and is reinforced by its affiliated community. Interestingly, Barthes argues that the process to make a myth is erased once the myth becomes fact or takes form (Barthes, 1972). Once valid, the myth sheds its history and any other component that made it true. In many ways, the newly created fact exists on its own with little or no framework to support it (Park 1990). Any framework left with the form is at a distance. So while the meaning of the new fact remains, the process that built the fact has been eroded (Griffin 2006). The bridging characteristics only serve to justify the existence of the fact through a vague social history (Barthes 1972).

The arguments used to shed light on how a social fact is created helped the ODCHC team better conceptualize the long-term goals of this project. Most people know there are no services here (The fact), but I have yet to find anyone who knows why they know that fact. They may relay a narrative example of a time when themselves or a peer had difficulty finding services, but the stories seem to end with the agent doing nothing after an initial negative result (The vague history that built the fact).

CHALLENGES AND SUCCESSES

The project's goal was to explore and populate a digital database called Aunt Bertha/ Find Help (See appendix B) with local community-based organizations (CBOs). Each CBOs is a non-profit organization and must offer free services to low-income and at-risk people to be included in the database.

The Aunt Bertha/ Find Help platform is a health and social care tool designed to simplify access to services by creating a list of services in a given area and allowing the user to filter services by need. The program is available to companies and individuals. Individuals have free access from a personal device or through a care provider at their leisure. Additionally, anyone may submit a CBO or information update to Aunt Bertha for screening and integration.

The work I did for this project was all simple in its implementation. However, there were several challenges throughout the process.

Challenges

The primary challenge and consumer of time was contacting CBOs. Many organizations in this area are small and do not have dedicated staff to handle inquiries outside of normal operations. Getting responses was a matter of persistence that was, at times, discouraging. When I was able to contact a site, there was a mixed response. Some were excited at the possible opportunities improved access could bring. Others were excited by the project but pushed me to other offices to get final approval (some sites were reluctant to permit someone outside the organization to add information to an external list); many more gave no response. The challenge of reluctance is likely the result of the previous hypothesis that many organizations are not particularly concerned with other bodies outside their work scope. Because most CBOs are small, they cannot bother to concern themselves with other organizations or external projects.

There was a single internal challenge that I resolved on my own. OCHIN, an affiliated non-profit medical organization specializing in medical information technologies, wanted me to stop the project for a short time because they felt I needed access to the tech tools that ODCHC uses, which would have included access to records. I pushed back against the request because there was no need for me to have advanced technical access to systems and records. Getting access to their tools, connected records, and other documents would have derailed my involvement in the project. Total access would have meant access to internal data, patient documents, and some degree of employee documents. An operational change of that scale would have required me to have spent considerable time with the Humboldt State University Institutional Review Board and ODCHC staff, explaining the project changes and how I would keep the project information confidential and protected.

One challenge that has yet to be resolved is how to teach ODCHC clients and staff about FindHelp and how to use it. Apart from reducing social isolation, loneliness, and negative health outcomes, this project improves access to services through awareness. If we do not correct the lack of service awareness in Humboldt County, people will continue without needed services. Therefore, an information campaign is required to teach people about FindHelp and its use. As a team, we had discussed creating instructional pamphlets and mailers to be sent to ODCHC clients and affiliates. We had also discussed organizing a training module to teach case managers and staff how to use the new program. None of the information campaigns came to fruition due to time and availability constraints. A personal challenge has emerged from this project as well. I will not be present for its completion. When my time requirement as a graduate intern was fulfilled, ODCHC thanked me for my work and dismissed me on good terms. The result is that I can now not see the project I was responsible for through to its completion, and I have no more say in its application and execution. Disturbingly, I was also told that this project may have been for nothing. I was told that this platform might never be implemented through ODCHC, not for lack of benefit but due to internal conflicts within my host site.

There were those within my host site who did not want to use the tool or spend time working on it. They raised several concerns about FindHelp and how it may not be a solution to pursue. Interestingly, their concerns were non-issues that would have been dispelled had they engaged with the platform. The unwillingness to use the system, although from a minority of employees and management, reflects the previous idea that organizational management will sometimes refuse a change to existing structures. I will be clear, though, that most staff at the host site were pleased with the project and supported the work.

Successes

The immediate success of this project has been in its ability to draw interest from the community. While my efforts to inform CBOs about FindHelp were primarily positive, I frequently received no response. The success that emerged from the project was independent interest from the community. I noticed that CBOs I had received no response from and CBOs that were out of my scope was being entered into Aunt Bertha without me having submitted their information.

To me, the additions are explained by organizations entering their information into FindHelp independently or people in the community engaging with the FindHelp platform. Perhaps, the independent engagement is a sign that others in Humboldt County have also recognized a gap in service knowledge, and they wish to improve local conditions. If there is enough effort to improve service knowledge, it is not unreasonable to hope that service utilization will also improve, which may also improve service scope and operation.

Perhaps local organizations were reluctant to have an outsider deliver their information to a further removed organization and instead preferred to handle the process independently. Whatever the reason for the previous, this project is successful because it has gained community interest and involvement that does not require effort from ODCHC.

As it was when I ended my formal involvement with the ODCHC team, the FindHelp platform now lists numerous local resources in its directory. Anyone can access the list and filter for what they need and then use the platform to get in contact with the desired service.

Further project success and perhaps our crowning achievement is that the platform will stand without ODCHC. While my work might not be implemented within

my host site, I am relieved that there is now a community-built and driven tool for Humboldt County citizens to quickly and easily find their resources.

SUGGESTIONS AND NEXT STEPS

Suggestions

Going forward with community work to bring social services together in a rural area or neighborhood, I suggest a mutual-aid-driven approach. The ways that mutual aid would be a positive in this venture would not be typical of how the method has worked in other places. As Jia Tolentino (2020) tells us, mutual aid thrives on personal relationships and a commitment to community empowerment. Mutual aid would work to bring organizations together in a similar way. If community-based organizations could forge those close relationships in how community members practice mutual aid, the FindHelp project's issue would be mitigated.

Tolentino (2020) shows us that mutual aid in a neighborhood or across a city depends on people willing to do more for the good of everyone. Indeed, organizations can function similarly through building aid networks that connect people to different organizations. Realistically, one CBO cannot supply every necessary service, so a mutual aid organization web becomes essential.

Further suggestions call back to the challenges faced during this project. The work being done as part of ODCHC was met with some internal resistance. The resistance was coming from people who had not engaged with the platform but considered using it when complete. Had they engaged with the platform and learned the basics of its operation, they would have had a more precise understanding of the platform. An unwillingness to engage with the new materials or methods confirms Michael Zack's (1999) explanations for organizational and managerial reluctance to engage the unfamiliar and therefore produce institutional ignorance. The suggestion would then be to designate a team member or members to act as an operations team tasked with providing updates and workshops to potential users while the product is rolling out. Focusing solely on development did not create the support the project needed for a full launch.

Next Steps

FindHelp represents the beginning of an answer to a problem that has plagued Humboldt County for decades while also being at the core of this community. I do not view this project as an end game for improving access. I see it as a stepping stone on the path to enhancing access or, at the very least, an arrow pointing in a better direction. The platform works well, but it is still necessary to have internet access, the ability to read and comprehend typed text, or access to health and social services to use the platform. The previous requirements expose an irony in the project. We built a platform to help at-risk people, but some of the most at risk may still go underserved by its very nature. Again, tech access and literacy, reading comprehension skills, or access to a care provider are necessary to use the program. People missing those crucial items remain underserved. Due to that irony, the path forward is mirky if a digital database is the desired path. Thankfully, FindHelp can be accessed from a personal device in its current form, so a service provider acting as a medium is not always necessary.

To further improve accessibility and awareness, the FindHelp platform should be used in tandem with existing information, such as the list printed by the Humboldt County Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) (See appendix C). While the

43

DHHS list comes with its issues, a hard copy list is sometimes more desirable than a digital database. A field outreach team may benefit from a hard copy; likewise, someone who has difficulty using smart technology or computers would reap more benefits.

Additional steps to improve access could look like annual conferences among local CBOs. Organizations could come together to deliver updates about their group. While in-person conferences may not be ideal, an online forum could be a good middleground. Due to a lack of awareness and communication between CBOs, bridging the knowledge and communication gap is key to better resource utilization in Humboldt County.

CONCLUSION

I arrived at this project with Open Door Community Health Centers after serious consideration for my community's problems and how I could have a positive impact. Being charged with constructing a community-based organization support web sounded like a relatively simple endeavor, but the approach was far from easy. Completing the project goals required personal tenacity fueled by the desire to see my community do well. I was met with reluctant positivity by community organizations. Their responses or lack thereof spawned two critical questions; why are community organizations unwilling to come together? A service network would mean better access and perhaps more money for organizations.

The other question which requires much more exploration is how myth becomes fact. There are numerous possibilities, and they are all likely correct. Myth comes from innumerable pathways, as does the interpretation of facts. A story is passed to someone who interprets the story based on their own experiences and knowledge. Over time, a story can become a myth when it is established among a group, at which point, the myth may become a social fact. Interestingly, like a myth, a social fact is not based on objective fact. Social facts come from shared experiences and interpretations that have become accepted as truth even if the social fact is incorrect.

The main question of this project remains. Are there services in Humboldt County? The answer is yes, there are. However, there are difficulties in the answer. While there are services here and many great organizations serving this area, their scale and scope are inadequate to provide services to everyone who needs them. Moreover, many organizations have little to no communication with other organizations. So while there are services here, they are not enough.

An unexpected finding during this project is that the belief or social fact indicating a lack of services has driven people in this area to inaction. Because it is known and established that there is no help to be had here, people have started to go without services or, in some cases, to search outside of the area for assistance. The unexpected consequence is that what services there are, begin to fade away. Lack of knowledge leads to lack of utilization which further decreases available services. In order to see projects like FindHelp make a positive impact on rural communities, prolonged effort from organizations and community members is necessary. Future resource access projects cannot succeed without community intervention and care.

REFERENCES

- Anon. n "Evaluating Information: The Cornerstone of Civic Online Reasoning." Stanford History Education Group. Retrieved February 26, 2020 (sheg.stanford.edu).
- Anon. n.d. "Findhelp.org, by Findhelp the Social Care Network." Findhelp.org. Retrieved April 24, 2022 (https://www.findhelp.org/).
- Anon. 2021. "Humboldt Community Resource List." 44.
- Arkhipova, Alexandra, and Ian Brodie. 2020. "When Rumours Fly like Helicopters: An International Conspiracy 'Language' for the New Reality?" *Social Anthropology* 28(2):223–24. doi: 10.1111/1469-8676.12826.
- Balmas, Meital. 2014. "When Fake News Becomes Real: Combined Exposure to Multiple News Sources and Political Attitudes of Inefficacy, Alienation, and Cynicism." *Communication Research* 41(3):430–54. doi: <u>10.1177/0093650212453600</u>.
- Bandura, Albert. 1971. "Social Learning Theory." Library of Congress Catalog.
- Barthes, Roland. 1972. *Mythologies*. New York, NY: The Noonday Press.
- Baudrillard, Jean. 1983.in Simulations. New York: Semiotext(e).
- Bauer, Patricia J., and Felicia L. Jackson. 2015. "Semantic Elaboration: ERPs Reveal Rapid Transition from Novel to Known." *Journal of Experimental Psychology*. *Learning, Memory, and Cognition* 41(1):271–82. doi: 10.1037/a0037405.
- Bauman, Zygmunt. 2013. *Identity: Coversations With Benedetto Vecchi*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Berger, Harris M. and Giovanna Del Negro. 2002. "Bauman's Verbal Art and the Social Organization of Attention: The Role of Reflexivity in the Aesthetics of Performance." *Journal of American Folklore* 115(455):62–91.
- Biebel, Nathan. 2018. "Epistemic Justification and the Ignorance Excuse." *Philosophical Studies* 175(12):3005–28. doi: 10.1007/s11098-017-0992-4.
- Birgisdóttir, Dröfn, Anette Duarte, Anna Dahlman, Bengt Sallerfors, Birgit H. Rasmussen, and Carl Johan Fürst. 2021. "A Novel Care Guide for Personalised Palliative Care – a National Initiative for Improved Quality of Care." *BMC Palliative Care* 20(1):176. doi: 10.1186/s12904-021-00874-4.

- Brashier, Nadia M., and Elizabeth J. Marsh. 2020. "Judging Truth." Annual Review of Psychology 71(1):499–515. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010419-050807.
- Brendel, David H. 2006. *Healing Psychiatry: Bridging the Science/Humanism Divide*. Cambridge, MA, USA: MIT Press.
- Brzozowski, Stanislaw. n.d. *The Legend of Young Poland. Studies on the Structure of the Cultural Spirit.* Digital Library of National Thought. Retrieved February 16, 2022 (https://cbmn.pl/stanislaw-brzozowski/legenda-mlodej-polski).
- Buckingham, David. 2019. "Teaching Media in a 'Post-Truth' Age: Fake News, Media Bias and the Challenge for Media/Digital Literacy Education / La Enseñanza Mediática En La Era de La Posverdad: Fake News, Sesgo Mediático y El Reto Para La Educación En Materia de Alfabetización Mediática y Digital." *Culture and Education* 31(2):213–31. doi: 10.1080/11356405.2019.1603814.
- Burawoy, Michael. 2004. "For Public Sociology." *Soziale Welt* 56(4):347-74. Retrieved December 12, 2021 (http://www.jstor.org/stable/40878618.).
- Campbell, James. 2017. "Pragmatism." Pp. 111–59 in *Experiencing William James*, *Belief in a Pluralistic World*. University of Virginia Press.

Carnap, Rudolf. 1967.in *The logical structure of the world: Pseudoproblems in philosophy*. London: Routledge and Kegan Paul.

- Chandler, Daniel, Vanessa Hogan Vega, and Iv??n Rodrigo Mendiz??bal. 2001. Semi??Tica Para Principiantes. Quito, Ecuador: Ediciones Abya-Yala : Escuela de Comunicaci??n Social de la Universidad Polit??cnica Salesiana.
- Cornish, Flora, and Alex Gillespie. 2009. "A Pragmatist Approach to the Problem of Knowledge in Health Psychology." *Journal of Health Psychology* 14(6):800–809. doi: 10.1177/1359105309338974.
- Duranti, Alessandro. 2010. "Husserl, Intersubjectivity and Anthropology." Anthropological Theory 10(1–2):16–35. doi: 10.1177/1463499610370517.
- Duschl, Richard A., Richard John Hamilton, Kenneth A. Strike, and George J. Posner. 1992. "A Revisionist Theory of Conceptual Change." Pp. 147–76 in Philosophy of science, cognitive psychology and educational theory and Practice. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- El-Jardali, Fadi, Lama Bou-Karroum, and Racha Fadlallah. 2020. "Amplifying the Role of Knowledge Translation Platforms in the COVID-19 Pandemic Response." *Health Research Policy and Systems* 18(1):58. doi: 10.1186/s12961-020-00576-y.

- Entman, Robert M. 2007. "Framing Bias: Media in the Distribution of Power." *Journal of Communication* 57(1):163–73. doi:<u>10.1111/j.1460-2466.2006.00336.x</u>.
- Feldman, Sue S., Scott Buchalter, and Leslie W. Hayes. 2018. "Health Information Technology in Healthcare Quality and Patient Safety: Literature Review." *JMIR Medical Informatics* 6(2):e10264. doi: <u>10.2196/10264</u>.
- Fiorini, Daniela, and Paula Socolovsky. 2014. "Argentinian Myths: Semiotics and Cultural Identity." *Society* 51(1):27–30. doi: <u>10.1007/s12115-013-9732-3</u>.
- Frog. 2018. "Myth." Humanities 7(1):14. doi: 10.3390/h7010014.
- Galantucci, Bruno, Simon Garrod, and Gareth Roberts. 2012. "Experimental Semiotics." *Language & Linguistics Compass* 6(8):477–93. doi: <u>10.1002/lnc3.351</u>.
- Gao, Jie. 2019. "Credal Pragmatism." *Philosophical Studies* 176(6):1595–1617. doi: 10.1007/s11098-018-1081-z.
- Ghiraldelli, Paulo, and Cody Carr. 2005. "What Is Pragmatism in Brazil Today?" *Studies in Philosophy and Education* 24(6):499–514. doi: 10.1007/s11217-005-1888-x.
- Gilbert, Susan. 2017. "Facts, Values, and Journalism." *The Hastings Center Report* 47(2):page inside front cover. doi: <u>10.1002/hast.678</u>.
- Goff, Andrew. n.d. "Arcata City Councilmember Announces Resignation, Citing Family Medical Issues, Poor Local Healthcare Options." *Lost Coast Outpost*. Retrieved February 27, 2022 (<u>https://lostcoastoutpost.com/2022/feb/3/arcata-city-council-</u> member-announces-resignation-c/).
- Gossner, Olivier, and Christoph Kuzmics. 2015. *Preferences under Ignorance*. 546. Center for Mathematical Economics, Bielefeld University.
- Greer, Tim, Vivian Andrade, Jeff Butterfield, and Agnes Mischinger. 2009. "Receipt through Repetition." *JALT Journal* 31(1):5. doi: 10.37546/JALTJJ31.1-1.
- Griffin, Em. 2006. *A First Look at Communication Theory, 6th Ed.* New York, NY, US: McGraw-Hill.
- Grossman, Zachary, and Joël J. van der Weele. 2017. "Self-Image and Willful Ignorance in Social Decisions." *Journal of the European Economic Association* 15(1):173–217. doi:<u>10.1093/jeea/jvw001</u>.

Gustafsson, Johan E. n.d. "Decisions under Ignorance." 40.

Hall, Stuart., Fiona Smyth, Paul Du Gay, and Simon Frith. 1996. *Questions of Cultural Identity*. Sage.

- Hills, Thomas T., Michael N. Jones, and Peter M. Todd. 2012. "Optimal Foraging in Semantic Memory." *Psychological Review* 119(2):431–40. doi: 10.1037/a0027373.
- Hedding, Kylah J., Kaitlin C. Miller, Jesse Abdenour, and Justin C. Blankenship. 2019. "The Sinclair Effect: Comparing Ownership Influences on Bias in Local TV News Content." *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media* 63(3):474–93. doi: 10.1080/08838151.2019.1653103.
- Hinkle, Gisela J., and H. Tristram Engelhardt. 1974. "Review of The Structure of the Life-World., H. Tristram Engelhardt, Jr." *Contemporary Sociology* 3(2):112–14. doi: <u>10.2307/2062873</u>.
- Hoshide, Reid R., Jenny D. Manog, Thomas Noh, and Jill Omori. 2011. "Barriers to Healthcare of Homeless Residents of Three Honolulu Shelters." *Hawaii Medical Journal* 70(10):214–16.
- Kasprzak, Krystof. 2022. "The Social Myth and Human Domination of Nature in Georg Sorel and Stanisław Brzozowski." *Studies in East European Thought* 74(1):93–110. doi:<u>10.1007/s11212-021-09411-8</u>.
- Keenan, Ciara, Sarah Miller, Jennifer Hanratty, Jayne Hamilton, Christopher Coughlan, Peter Mackie, Suzanne Fitzpatrick, and Alan Maddock. 2020. "PROTOCOL: Improving Access to Health and Social Services for Individuals Experiencing, or at Risk of Experiencing, Homelessness." *Campbell Systematic Reviews* 16(4):e1118. doi: 10.1002/cl2.1118.
- Koehler, Christina, and Pablo B. Jost. 2019. "Revealing the Hybrid Patterns: Conflict Coverage as a Product of a Commercial and a Normative Media Logic." *The International Journal of Press/Politics* 24(2):233–53. doi: <u>10.1177/1940161218821802</u>.
- Kretz, Lisa. 2012. "Climate Change: Bridging the Theory-Action Gap." *Ethics & the Environment* 17(2):9–27.
- Janis, Irving L. 1971. "Groupthink ." Psychology Today 84-90.
- Jucker, Andreas H. 2012. "Pragmatics in the History of Linguistic Thought." *The Cambridge Handbook of Pragmatics* 495–512.
- Leeson, Peter T. 2009. "The Calculus of Piratical Consent: The Myth of the Myth of Social Contract." *Public Choice* 139(3/4):443–59.
- Lewis, C. S. 1970. "Myth Becomes Fact." Pp. 54–60 in *God in the dock*. Grand Rapids, MI: William B. Eerdmans Publishing Co.

- Manning, Paul. 2010. "The Semiotics of Brand." *Annual Review of Anthropology* (39):33–49. doi: 10.1146/annurev.anthro.012809.104939.
- Martimianakis, Maria Athina (Tina), Jon Tilburt, Barret Michalec, and Frederic W. Hafferty. 2020. "Myths and Social Structure: The Unbearable Necessity of Mythology in Medical Education." *Medical Education* 54(1):15–21. doi: <u>10.1111/medu.13828</u>.
- Mayr, Martina, and Roland M. Schmid. 2010. "Pancreatic Cancer and Depression: Myth and Truth." *BMC Cancer* 10(1):569. doi: <u>10.1186/1471-2407-10-569</u>.
- Margolis, Joseph. 2021. "Pragmatism Regained." *Metaphilosophy* 52(1):75–91. doi: <u>10.1111/meta.12474</u>.
- Nissani, Moti, and Donna Marie Hoefler-Nissani. 1992. "Experimental Studies of Belief Dependence of Observations and of Resistance to Conceptual Change." *Cognition and Instruction* 9(2):97–111.
- Novak, Mark W. 2018. Issues in Aging. New York, NY: Routledge.
- O'Shea, James R. 2021. "What Is the Myth of the Given?" *Synthese* 199(3):10543–67. doi: <u>10.1007/s11229-021-03258-6</u>.
- Park, Won-Woo. 1990. "A Review of Research on Groupthink." *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making* 3(4):229–45. doi: 10.1002/bdm.3960030402.
- Park, Won-Woo. 2000. "A Comprehensive Empirical Investigation of the Relationships among Variables of the Groupthink Model." *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 21(8):873–87. doi: 10.1002/1099-1379(200012)21:8<873::AID-JOB56>3.0.CO;2-8.
- Peirce, Charles Sanders. 1878. "ILLUSTRATIONS OF THE LOGIC OF SCIENCE II." Popular Science Monthly 12.
- Prelec, Drazen, and Ronit Bodner. 2003. "Self-Signaling and Self-Control." Pp. 277–98 in *Time and decision: Economic and psychological perspectives on intertemporal choice*. New York, NY, US: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Proctor, Robert, and Londa L. Schiebinger, eds. 2008. Agnotology: The Making and Unmaking of Ignorance. Stanford, Calif: Stanford University Press.
- Reyes, Angela. 2021. "Postcolonial Semiotics." Annual Review of Anthropology 50(1):291–307.

- Roberts, Joanne. 2013. "Organizational Ignorance: Towards a Managerial Perspective on the Unknown." *Management Learning* 44(3):215–36. doi: 10.1177/1350507612443208.
- Robichaud, Philip. 2014. "On Culpable Ignorance and Akrasia." *Ethics* 125(1):137–51. doi: 10.1086/677139.
- Rose, Lydia, and Teresa Bartoli. 2020. "Agnotology and the Epistemology of Ignorance: A Framework for the Propagation of Ignorance as a Consequence of Technology in a Balkanized Media Ecosystem." *Postdigital Science and Education* 2(1):184–201. doi: <u>10.1007/s42438-019-00084-5</u>.
- Rosen, Gideon. 2003. "Culpability and Ignorance." Proceedings of the Aristotelian Society 103:61–84.
- Rudy-Hiller, Fernando. 2017. "A Capacitarian Account of Culpable Ignorance." *Pacific Philosophical Quarterly* 98(S1):398–426. doi: <u>10.1111/papq.12190</u>.
- Ruiz-Ballesteros, José Antonio, and Sergio Moreno-Ríos. 2017. "Concessive and Semifactual Interpretations during Reasoning with Multiple Conditionals." *Quarterly Journal of Experimental Psychology* 70(7):1140–50. doi: <u>10.1080/17470218.2016.1172098</u>.
- Sartre, Jean-paul. 2010. Imaginary. Routledge.
- Saussure, F. De and Charles Bally. 1983.in F. De Saussure: Course in general linguistics. London: Gerald Duckworth & Co. Ltd.
- Schaefer, Stephan M. 2019. "Wilful Managerial Ignorance, Symbolic Work and Decoupling: A Socio-Phenomenological Study of 'Managing Creativity." *Organization Studies* 40(9):1387–1407. doi:<u>10.1177/0170840618772600</u>.
- Schutz, Alfred. 1972.in *The phenomenology of the social world: Transl. by George Walsh and Frederick Lehnert. with an introd. by George Walsh.* Evanston: Northwestern Univ. Press.
- Seigfried, Charlene Haddock. 2012. "Distinguishing Myth from Reality: Are Pragmatic Tools Sufficient?" *Revue Internationale de Philosophie* 66(260 (2)):187–205.
- Shermer, Michael. 2002. Why People Believe Weird Things: Pseudoscience, Superstition, and Other Confusions of Our Time ; National Bestseller. New York, NY: St. Martin's Griffin.

- Slater, Matthew, Joanna Huxster, Julia Bresticker, and Victor LoPiccolo. 2018. "Denialism as Applied Skepticism: Philosophical and Empirical Considerations." *Erkenntnis*. doi:<u>10.1007/s10670-018-0054-0</u>.
- Sterelny, Kim. 2010. "Minds: Extended or Scaffolded?" *Phenomenology and the Cognitive Sciences* 9(4):465–81. doi: <u>10.1007/s11097-010-9174-y</u>.
- Tolentino, Jia. 2020. "What Mutual Aid Can Do During A Pandemic." The New Yorker. Retrieved December 11, 2021 (https://www.newyorker.com/magazine/2020/05/18/what-mutual-aid-can-do-duringa-pandemic).
- Trondalen, Gro. 2019. "Musical Intersubjectivity." *The Arts in Psychotherapy* 65:101589. doi: <u>10.1016/j.aip.2019.101589</u>.
- Verwijs, Marije H., Saskia Puijk-Hekman, Ellen van der Heijden, Emmelyne Vasse, Lisette C. P. G. M. de Groot, and Marian A. E. de van der Schueren. 2020.
 "Interdisciplinary Communication and Collaboration as Key to Improved Nutritional Care of Malnourished Older Adults across Health-Care Settings – A Qualitative Study." *Health Expectations* 23(5):1096–1107. doi: 10.1111/hex.13075.
- Walls, Margaret. 2014. "Private Funding of Public Parks: Assessing the Role of Philanthropy." *Issue Brief* 1(14):24.
- Yen, Dorothy A., and Bidit Dey. 2019. "Acculturation in the Social Media: Myth or Reality? Analysing Social-Media-Led Integration and Polarisation." *Technological Forecasting and Social Change* 145:426–27. doi:<u>10.1016/j.techfore.2019.04.012</u>.
- Zack, Michael H. 1999. "Managing Organizational Ignorance ." *Managing Organizational Ignorance*. Retrieved April 13, 2022 (http://web.cba.neu.edu/~mzack/articles/orgig/orgig.htm).
- Zolyan, Suren. 2019. "General Sociolinguistics, Social Semiotics and Semiotics of Culture - Ex Pluribus Unum? Forty Years after Language as Social Semiotic: Üldine Sotsiolingvistika, Sotsiosemiootika Ja Kultuurisemiootika - Ex Pluribus Unum? Nelikümmend Aastat Raamatut "Keel Sotsiaalse Semiootikana"." Общая Социолингвистика, Социальная Семиотика и Семиотика Культуры - Ex Pluribus Unum? Сорок Лет После Книги «Язык Как Социальная Семиотика» 47(3/4):400–419. doi: <u>10.12697/SSS.2019.47.3-4.03</u>.

APPENDICES

Appendix A: Community Based Organization Target Sites

Redwood Community Action Agency Arcata House Inc **Crescent City Housing Authority** Food For People City of Eureka Housing Authority Del Norte Senior Center Area 1 Agency on Aging Humboldt County Emma Center Eureka Rescue Mission Redwood Community Action Agency Remi Vista, Inc. Food For People Humboldt Domestic Violence Services **Open Door Community Health Centers** Arcata House Inc Two Feathers Native American Family Services Area 1 Agency on Aging **Changing Tides Family Services** Food For People Food For People Humboldt Senior Resource Center Southern Trinity Health Services Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) Humboldt County Department of Health & Human Services City of Eureka Housing Authority Del Norte Senior Center Eureka Rescue Mission Food For People Redwood Community Action Agency Food For People Redwood Community Action Agency Food For People California Governor's Office of Emergency Services Inter-Tribal Council of California (ITCC) Fuerza Inc Arcata House Inc United Indian Health Services North Coast Subst Abuse Council Inc

Humboldt Network of Family Resource Centers (HNFRC) Redwood Community Action Agency Catholic Charities Diocese of Santa Rosa Humboldt Health Foundation United Indian Health Services Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) North Coast Stand Down Area 1 Agency on Aging Humboldt County Department of Health & Human Services Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) Humboldt County Department of Health & Human Services Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) ResolutionCare AARP Foundation - Arcata Office Salvation Army - Eureka California Department of Social Services (CDSS) Area 1 Agency on Aging California Department of Social Services (CDSS) Del Norte County **Open Door Community Health Centers** Arcata Interfaith Gospel Choir Alcohol and Drug Care Services Inc **Changing Tides Family Services** Alcohol and Drug Care Services Inc Food For People Humboldt Area Center for Harm Reduction (HACHR) PDI Surgery Center Our Daily Bread Ministries of Crescent City Habitat for Humanity of Del Norte City of Eureka **Changing Tides Family Services** Area 1 Agency on Aging Del Norte Unified School District Jordan Recovery Centers Food For People **Changing Tides Family Services** Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) Redwoods Rural Health Center California Department of Health Care Services (DHCS) Del Norte Child Care Council Karuk Tribe Humboldt County Department of Health & Human Services - North Coast AIDS Project (NorCAP)

Humboldt Family Service Center Sonic Area 1 Agency on Aging Del Norte Unified School District United Indian Health Services USDA - Jefferson Community Center Del Norte Child Care Council Hoopa Valley Tribe United Way of the Wine Country **Open Door Community Health Centers** California State Library Christian Church Homes (CCH) Humboldt State University Humboldt County Department of Health & Human Services - North Coast AIDS Project (NorCAP) Epilepsy Foundation of Northern California (EFNC) Humboldt County Department of Health & Human Services Humboldt Domestic Violence Services Food For People Humboldt County Department of Health & Human Services Area 1 Agency on Aging Humboldt County Department of Health & Human Services - North Coast AIDS Project (NorCAP) Hoopa Valley Tribe Native American Health Center (NAHC) Del Norte County **Redwoods Rural Health Center** California Rural Legal Assistance Foundation (CRLAF) Yurok Tribe Education Department Mckinleyville Senior Center Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E) **Changing Tides Family Services** Family Resource Center of the Redwoods Northern California Region of Narcotics Anonymous Planned Parenthood Northern California Waterfront Recovery Services Hospice Of Humboldt Northcoast Children's Services (NCS) Epilepsy Foundation of Northern California (EFNC) Humboldt County Area 1 Agency on Aging Garberville WIC **Changing Tides Family Services**

Northcoast Children's Services **Changing Tides Family Services** American Civil Liberties Union of Northern California (ACLU-NC) Del Norte Child Care Council UCSF Benioff Children's Hospital San Francisco **Community Cornerstone Inc** Covenant House California (CHC) Catholic Charities Diocese of Santa Rosa Catholic Charities Diocese of Santa Rosa Catholic Charities Diocese of Santa Rosa Lutheran Social Services (LSS) of Northern California The SMART Business Resource Center The County Medical Services Program (CMSP) Governing Board Legal Services of Northern California (LSNC) Catholic Charities Diocese of Santa Rosa Ford Street Project Catholic Charities Diocese of Santa Rosa County Medical Services Program (CMSP) Catholic Charities Diocese of Santa Rosa **Employment Development Department** Catholic Charities Diocese of Santa Rosa Catholic Charities Diocese of Santa Rosa Catholic Charities Diocese of Santa Rosa Desert Healthcare District & Foundation Coachella Valley Volunteers In Medicine

Introduction to Aunt Bertha for Community Based Organizations"

What is Aunt Bertha?

Aunt Bertha is a <u>social care network</u> that connects people seeking help with verified social care providers (like you) that serve them. Thousands of nonprofits and social care providers serve their communities across our nation. But for more people, navigating the system to get help has been difficult, time consuming and frustrating. Too many Americans are suffering, and they do not need to.

Our organization _______ is committed to helping our patients and clients get connected to the resources they need, and that is why we are reaching out to you. We are currently screening our patients for social determinants of health needs including social isolation and loneliness. Your organization is one we have partnered with in the past, and we would like to invite you to claim your organization in Aunt Bertha.

What does that mean - "claim my organization?"

The Aunt Bertha social care network is a searchable online resource where organizations can refer patients or clients to community-based organizations (resources like you). Your information has been added to Aunt Bertha, and the next step is to go in the Aunt Bertha platform and <u>claim your organization</u>. There is no fee involved with this and there will not ever be as a non-profit organization.

Once you claim your organization in Aunt Bertha a whole suite of tools becomes available to you including:

Update my Program: Update your Aunt Bertha listing yourself so that it reflects any program changes in real time. This serves as an additional safeguard to our data quality processes, helping people connect to accurate information. Listing your organization and keeping your programs up to date can help you reach more patients and clients.

Referral Tracking: Once someone refers a person in need to your organization, you can update the status of that referral and track what happened. This way it is easy for your staff, the Seeker, and the organization helping them (us) to determine right within Aunt Bertha whether you were able to provide help.

Impact Reports and Analytics: Get access to reports on any programs that you have claimed in the program database. These reports show how often your programs have displayed in searches on Aunt Bertha, as well as the type and number of actions taken on each program, **demonstrating your value to donors and supporters.**

Screening: One of the most popular features among nonprofits, the screening tool offers an additional layer of questions that confirms whether someone is eligible for services. You can vet applicants with a customizable questionnaire that populates right within Aunt Bertha. Your care team has the option of either choosing from pre-made questions or creating their own. **This tool helps your staff spend less time qualifying and more time helping**.

Eligibility: You can detail eligibility requirements for income level, age, prerequisites, location/address, as well as custom eligibility criteria, right on your program card. Because programs can be

filtered by eligibility criteria, including this field in your listing is a powerful screening tool. You can also update your capacity to take new clients as demand and resources change.

Team Sharing: The Aunt Bertha team sharing tool unlocks Open Toolkit access to entire teams at a nonprofit like yours. Team sharing allows staff to invite members of their team to manage their program listing(s), run reports, create, and share favorites, and more; permissions may be set for individual team members, specifying various access levels.

Appointment Scheduler: The Aunt Bertha free scheduling tool sends reminders with custom notes and appointment details via email, phone, or text. You can also add appointments to Google Calendar and Outlook. Nonprofits also can set custom availability for staff members, book appointments with individuals over the phone, and allow people in need to book appointments for themselves.

We at ______ are committed to helping our patients and clients receive the resources they need to lead healthy, safe, and happy lives, and we hope you will join us in this effort.

We will be referring our patients to community-based organizations like yours using the Aunt Bertha social care network. Our electronic health record has a link built directly into the interface for ease of referral.

Your next step is to go to the <u>Aunt Bertha website</u> and claim your listing, it is just that easy!

How big is Aunt Bertha?

- There are currently 471,665 program locations across the country
- 6 million users
- 75,492 claimed program locations across the country

Appendix C: Humboldt County Community Resource list

The following URL leads to the current Humboldt County Community Resource List. This list is a very lengthy document and has fine print.

This list was given to me after a 30-minute wait at a local CBO when I asked if there was a list of local resources available. I was given a large hard copy. The person giving me the copy was not sure such a document existed and if it did, they did not know how to find it. A site administrator became involved and they too had little to no idea of the existence of this list.

The current format is suitable only to those who are tech savvy and patient enough to find the list. Likewise, the format assumes that the viewer has high reading comprehension skills and is fully literate.

The document exists within the Humboldt County government website deep in the complex document center.

https://humboldtgov.org/DocumentCenter/View/54880/Humboldt-Community-Resource-List-PDF?bidId=

Appendix D: Letters of Introduction

Version 1.

Hello,

My name is Colton Hubbard. I am a student-intern with Open Door Community Health Centers (ODCH).

I am reaching out to you about a new program we are launching through ODCH. The program is called Aunt Bertha, and it will be launched from the Fortuna Community Health Center.

The goal of this program is to connect residents with local resources. However, before the program can be launched, we need to load it with information about services in our area. As it currently exists, there are many great state-serving organizations in the program directory, but local services are underrepresented. I am hoping we can start a dialogue about this program. If there is interest from the **[insert organization]**, I would like to take steps to add your organization into the Aunt Bertha directory.

I have provided a link below to the Aunt Bertha portal and links to some helpful videos so that you can explore the program at your leisure. I have also attached a summary introduction to Aunt Bertha for community-based organizations. https://www.findhelp.org/

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=UauAzQByZws&t=1s

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=XhwSkffOf0UAppendix E

I am available for further discussions via phone Monday through Friday from 8:00 AM- 12:00 PM at (xxx) xxx-xxxx or throughout the day via email at xxx@opendoorhealth.com.

I look forward to discussing this in more detail. Best wishes, Colton J Hubbard

Version 2.

Hi there,

I am reaching out on behalf of Open Door Community Health. We are launching a program called Aunt Bertha (findhelp.org), to support the programs that are most important to Californians. Findhelp.org is an easy way to find and refer to free and reduced-cost programs across the state and local area. [organization name] is very

important to the community and I want to make sure [organization name] is listed with up-to-date information.

Are you available next week to discuss ways to be involved?

1- <u>Search for your program here</u> to see if all the programs are listed.

2- <u>Claim the programs for your organization</u>. You can then control the information people see, how people in need can contact you, and use free tools that we offer to non-profits!

Thank you for all the important work you and your colleagues do for our community! I look forward to hearing from you.

All the best, Colton J Hubbard

Follow-up.

Hi there!

Just following up to see if **you have 30 minutes to connect this week or next?** I'd love to learn more about the work you do and discuss how <u>findhelp.org</u> may be able to support you with <u>free tools</u> for nonprofits and other community organizations.

I look forward to hearing from you!